### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 74575

Electronically Filed Apr 05 2018 09:04 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### U.S. BANK N.A. N.D. a foreign Corporation

#### **Plaintiff and Appellant**

V.

**RESOURCES GROUP LLC, a Nevada limited liability company** Defendant and Respondent

**Appeal from a Judgment** 

Of the Eighth Judicial District Court, County of Clark

Hon. Timothy Williams

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF** 

Kristin A. Schuler-Hintz, Esq (NSB#7171) Thomas N. Beckom, Esq (NSB#12554) McCARTHY HOLTHUS LLP 9510 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200 Las Vegas, NV 89117 Phone No. (702) 685-0329 Attorney for Appellant

# JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

As outlined below, jurisdiction before the Honorable Supreme Court of Nevada is proper.

NRS §2.090 states in pertinent part that

"The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review upon appeal:

A judgment in an action or proceeding commenced in a district court when the matter in dispute is embraced in the general jurisdiction of the Supreme Court, and to review upon appeal from such judgment any inter mediate or decision involving the merits and necessarily affecting the judgment and in a criminal action, any order changing or refusing to change the place of trial of the action or proceeding."

Nev. R. App. Pro 4 further states that

"In a civil case in which an appeal is permitted by law from a district court to the Supreme Court, the notice appeal required by Rule shall be filed with the district court clerk. Except as provide in Rule 4(a)(4), a notice of appeal must be filed after entry of a written judgment or order, and no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served."

In this instant case, the judgment being appealed is the Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law regarding the Quiet Title and Judicial Foreclosure Claims [Appx Vol 7 pp. 1547-1556] which is a traditional State Law Claim and as such it is "embraced in the general jurisdiction of the Supreme Court." As such jurisdiction properly lies with the Honorable Supreme Court of Nevada would be available on this basis.

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to Nev. R. App. Pro 17 for several reasons. Pursuant to Nev. R. App. 17, the Nevada Supreme Court has exclusive jurisdiction over all matters in its jurisdiction which are not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRS §2.090 states that the Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction over a judgment from the District Court and any matter which effects the merits of the judgment. This instant case is an appeal from a Quiet Title determination in a Nevada Homeowners Association foreclosure matter and therefore is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. Nev. R. App. Pro 17(b). As such jurisdiction lies with the Supreme Court.

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- Did the District Court err when it held that there was no requirement under Nevada Law that the Notice of Default needs to be sent to the First Deed of Trust Holder and that the Deed of Trust Holder had to "opt in" to receive notice?
- 2. Does a mechanical failure, such as failing to serve a Notice of Default on a First Deed of Trust Holder, render the foreclosure sale void as opposed to voidable under the *Shadow Wood* analysis?
- 3. Did the District Court err in refusing to invalidate a Homeowners Association foreclosure sale for an obviously inadequate purchase price and failing to make a finding of Fraud, Unfairness, and Oppression in light of the totality of the circumstances in this appeal?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 30, 2012; U.S. Bank National Association ND filed a Complaint for Judicial Foreclosure stemming from a Breach in a Mortgage Note and related Deed of Trust by George R. Edwards and *inter alia* sued both Mr. Edwards as well as the instant respondent, Resource Group, LLC. On July 16, 2014; Resources Group filed an Answer and Counterclaim contending that they own the property free and clear of the encumbrance of U.S. Bank due to a foreclosure by a Homeowners Association in January, 2012.

U.S. Bank and Resources Group engaged in discovery on two separate occasions and filed dispositive Summary Judgment motions on May 16, 2016 and January 3, 2017. Both times, U.S. Bank *inter alia* claimed the sale should be held void due to Glenview's failure to serve them with the Notice of Default. Both times, U.S. Bank's Summary Judgment motion was denied. Ultimately this case was decided on a three day bench trial held before the Court on October 2-3, 2017. The Court ultimately ruled that U.S. Bank lost their security interest as the sale was simply not tainted by fraud, unfairness, or oppression on November 1, 2017 and that NRS §116.3116 *et seq* was an opt in noticing statute and therefore U.S. Bank was not require to receive the Notice of Default. U.S. Bank filed a timely notice of appeal on November 22, 2017.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. UNDISPUTED FACTS

 On March 3, 2009, George R. Edwards signed an Equiline Agreement with U.S. Bank which was secured by real his home located at 4254 Rollingstone Dr. Las Vegas, NV 89103 (hereinafter "Subject Property"). (Appx. Vol. 3 at 678-683; Appx. Vol. 3 at 685-693).

- U.S. Bank recorded a Deed of Trust (hereinafter "DOT") memorializing this agreement in the Property Records of Clark County, NV. (Appx. Vol. 3 at 685-693).
- 3. The Subject Property was subject to the CC&R's for Glenview West Townhomes. (Appx. Vol. 4 at 975-989).
- 4. In 2010 Mr. Edwards stopped paying his HOA dues and the Law Firm of Alessi & Koenig (A&K) was retained to collect the amounts due, which as of November 3, 2010, purported to be \$1,855.00. (Appx. Vol. 3 at 715).
- 5. A Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien was recorded in the Clark County records. (Appx. Vol. 5 at 1003).
- 6. Thereafter, a Notice of Default and Election to Sell under Homeowners Association Lien was recorded in the Clark County records. (Appx. Vol. 5 at 1005).
- 7. Thereafter, a Notice of Trustee's Sale recorded in the Clark County Records. The Notice of Sale was executed by Ryan Kerbow, Esq. (Appx. Vol. 5 at 1007).
- 8. Ultimately the Property sold to the 4254 Rollingstone Dr. Trust. (Appx. Vol. 5 at 1009).
- A Trustee's Deed Upon Sale was recorded in the Clark County records stating that the 4254 Rollingston Dr. Trust had purchased the property, again Ryan Kerbow, Esq executed the deed.
- 10. The Subject Property sold for \$5,331.00. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1765).

# **B. U.S. BANK WAS NOT PROVIDED THE NOTICE OF DEFAULT**

- 11. There are several different entities and addresses in the recorded DOT. The DOT listed the following entities in the following capacities:
  - a. **"Prepared by"** Southwest Financial Services Ltd. 597 E. Pete Rose Way Suite 300 Cincinnati, OH 45202

- b. "Return to:" U.S. Recordings 2925 Country Dr. Suite 201 St. Paul, MN 55117
- c. **"Trustee"** 111 SW Fifth Ave. Portland, OR 97204
- d. "Lender"
  U.S. Bank National Association ND 4326 17<sup>th</sup> Ave. SW
  Fargo, ND 58103
  (Appx. Vol. 3 at 685-693)
- 12.In addition, Section 16 of the DOT (Entitled "NOTICE") states that all Notices regarding the DOT should be mailing to appropriate addresses on page 1 of the DOT.) (Appx. Vol. 3 at 690).
- 13.At Trial, Bryan Heifner, Corporate Representative for U.S. Bank, testified he did not know who Southwest Financial Services Ltd., was; he further testified that Southwest Financial was not related to U.S. Bank, and that Mail to Southwest Financial would not reach U.S. Bank. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1680-1681).
- 14.Mr. Heifner further testified that he did not know who U.S. Recordings was; U.S. Recordings was not affiliated with U.S. Bank, and that any mail sent to U.S. Recordings would not reach U.S. Bank. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1681).
- 15.Additionally, Mr. Heifner testified that U.S. Bank inserts its preferred address for receipt of notice within the Deed of Trust; within the DOT the address is 4325 17<sup>th</sup> Ave. SW, Fargo, North Dakota, 58103. Further, U.S. Bank's understanding was that the recorded DOT gave record notice U.S. Bank was to receive notice at the stated address. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1681-1682).
- 16.During his testimony, David Alessi, the corporate representative for Alessi & Koenig, testified **unequivocally testified that A&K failed to provide or mail the Notice of Default to U.S. Bank at their designated address for service and**

instead mailed U.S. Recordings, an unrelated entity. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1749-1750; Appx. Vol. 8 at 1751).

- 17.Mr. Alessi further testified that A&K had a title report that identified U.S. Bank National Association, ND as the beneficiary on the Deed of Trust. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1744-1745).
- The evidence implicated it required an affirmative action for the Notice of Default to be mailed to a different address that that within the Deed of Trust. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1751-1752).
- 19.The failure to mail the Notice of Default was suspect as U.S. Bank National Association ND was much later mailed the Notice of Sale. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1754-1755).

#### C. THE VALUE OF THE PROPERTY IS INADEQUATE

- 20.At trial, U.S. Bank presented George Holmes ("Holmes") as an expert in residential real property appraisal.
- 21.Homes testified that he rendered an opinion of "market value" which he defined as "the most probably price between an informed and willing buyer and seller in an open market." (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1898).
- 22.Holmes additionally expressly excluded forced sale values from his definition of "market value." (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1898).
- 23.Ultimately, Holmes testified that "market value" of the Subject Property was \$48,000.00 at the time of the sale. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1900 *also* Appx. Vol. 5 at 1016-1028).
- 24.Resources Group additionally produced an expert, Michael Brunson, whom testified that the Subject Property was worth \$5,300.00 (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1934).
- 25.U.S. Bank objected to the admission of Mr. Brunson's testimony and report because Brunson was not testifying as to Fair Market Value of the Subject Property (which was the applicable standard under *Shadow Wood*) accordingly

the testimony was irrelevant under *Shadow Wood* and Supreme Court precedent in *Unruh*. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1920-1931).

26.Brunson used a modified version of the Sales Comparison Approach; however the only sales he compared were other forced sale properties. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1918-1920).

#### D. THE FORECLOSURE TRUSTEE TESTIFEID THAT THERE WAS AN INAPPROPRIATE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE FORECLOSURE COMPANY AND THE PURCHASER

- 27.At trial Mr. Alessi testified as the Corporate Representative for A&K that A&K performed the foreclosure for Glenview on the Subject Property. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1726-1727).
- 28.Mr. Alessi testified that Ryan Kerbow, the attorney whom executed the notice of sale and trustee's deed, was an attorney that worked in his office at Alessi & Koenig and assisted in processing the foreclosure of the Subject Property. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1735-1736).
- 29.Mr. Alessi also testified that it was not unusual, and relatively routine, for A&K to represent a purchaser when A&K was acting as the Trustee. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1735-1736).
- 30.Iyad "Eddie" Haddad the representative for Resources Group, testified that attorney's from A&K did legal work for him and specifically Quiet Title Work involving Homeowners Association Foreclosures. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1799-1800).
- 31.A&K did assist the Respondent in this action in Quieting Title to this property he purchased at his own sale. (Appx. Vol. 7 at 1739).
- 32.Finally, Mr. Alessi testified that he believed that bidding may be depressed because of the known litigation risk associated with these sales. (Appx. Vol. 8 pp. 1781-1782)

# E. TESTIMONY EVIDENCED THAT RESOURCES GROUP IS NOT A GOOD FAITH PURCHASER

- 33. Mr. Alessi testified it was generally known that his sales were tantamount to "inheriting what seems to be never ending lawsuits" and that this knowledge was "common sense." (Appx. Vol. 7. at 1733).
- 34.Mr. Alessi testified that the purchasers closely monitored the outcomes of legal proceedings. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1769).
- 35.Mr. Haddad was aware there would be litigation involving these properties before he purchased them; especially if there was a Deed of Trust on the Property. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1803-1805).
- 36.Mr. Haddad testified that under penalty of perjury in Bankruptcy Court, the Subject Property was worth \$35,000.00. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1811-1812).
- 37.Mr. Haddad also testified in bankruptcy, five months after the HOA foreclosure sale, he believed there was a mortgage that would need to be treated within bankruptcy. (Appx. Vol. 8 at 1813-1815).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This sale should have been void under *Shadow Wood* and *Shadow Canyon* and/or declared subject to U.S. Bank's Deed of Trust. First, the purchase price was "obviously inadequate" and the District Court should have seized on *any* small amount of evidence impugning this sale. In light of the sliding scale standard this Honorable Court adopted in *Shadow Canyon*, three key facts of this case indicted the sale was void:

- (1) No Notice of Default was mailed to the Deed of Trust holder at its record address;
- (2) The sale was for an inadequate purchase price as shown by Resource Groups own Bankruptcy Petition and U.S. Bank's expert witness. (There was no other competent testimony evidencing any other value as Brunson's testimony

was irrelevant as it was a forced sale value which is not "fair market value" under *Unruh*.

(3) The insider relationship between Resources and the HOA collection company and the chilled billing.

#### I.

### **INTRODUCTION**

The Honorable Court should reverse the holding of the District Court after reviewing the totality of the circumstances which either rendered the sale void as to U.S. Bank or inequitable to U.S. Bank, an innocent party, and voidable in light of the evidence which demonstrates that Resources Group fully expected litigation and a post-sale challenge.

First, this property sold for 11.1% if fair market value. The only competent evidence of "fair market value" was the expert testimony of Holmes whom testified that the fair market value of the Subject Property was \$48,000.00. Other evidence, including the Bankruptcy Petition of Resources Group, provided the property was worth in excess of the \$5,331.00 purchase price. While Resources Group did produce an expert whom testified that the property was worth approximately what was paid for the property at the HOA sale, their expert used the sales comparison approach using *only* other distressed HOA sale real estate. This is simply not the purchase price between a willing buyer and a willing seller and therefore not relevant in this matter.

Additionally, the District misapplied the sliding scale approach this Court adopted in *Shadow Canyon*<sup>1</sup>. When the Subject Property sold for 11.1% of Fair

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Admittedly *Shadow Canyon* had not been decided at the time the District Court entered judgment on this issue.

Market Value, the District Court had a duty to closely scrutinize the foreclosure sale. If there was any defects, no matter how small that the sale was not conducted in accordance with the law, the sale should be void. The record is void of any evidence disputing the unfairness of this sale.

First, it is undisputed that U.S. Bank N.A. ND was not sent the Notice of Default from the HOA Collection Company despite recording an address for notice. On that basis, the holding that U.S. Bank was not required to receive the Notice of Default was simply erroneous. Second, the Collection Company was both the foreclosing entity and actively acting as counsel for the insider/purchaser in Quiet Title actions in many of the purchaser's cases is additional evidence of unfairness sufficient to set aside this sale in light of the *Shadow Canyon* analysis. Finally, the witness for the HOA collection company testified that bidding was chilled at sale and he was aware of this fact.

Finally, Nevada is a very "common sense" jurisdiction in regards to the application of our bona fide purchaser doctrine. In this specific instance when Resources Group was filing bankruptcy documents indicating they believe the Subject Property was subject to a mortgage, their own attorney's took a noncommittal stance as to the nature of the asset being sold, and their own testimony indicated they expected and planned for litigation; common sense dictates Respondent was not a bona fide purchaser.

#### II.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews questions of law *de novo* see, *Grand Hotel Gift Shop v*. *Granite St. Ins.* 1078 Nev. 811, 815 (1992). This Court "defe[s]" to the district court's findings regarding questions of fact unless they are clearly erroneous or not based on substantial evidence." *Grisham v. Grisham* 128 Nev. 679, 687 (2012). "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Whitemaine v. Aniskovich* 124 Nev. 302, 308 (2008). "Mixed question of law and fact are those in which the historical facts are admitted or established, the rule of law is undisputed, the issue is whether the facts satisfy the statutory standard." *Khan v. Holder* 584 F.3d 773, 780 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009). Questions of law and fact require de novo review. *State of Bennet* 119 Nev. 589, 599 (2003).

This appeal requires de novo review because it involves questions of law and mixed questions of law and fact. Whether the uncontested facts of the case constitute a void sale is a mixed question of law and fact. Whether Resources groups was a bona purchaser under the facts of the case is a mixed question of law and fact. Whether the HOA sale is void due to a failure to send U.S. Bank the Notice of Default is an issue of law. Thus, de novo review is appropriate here.

### III.

#### LAW AND ARGUMENT

## A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO QUIET TITLE IN THE NAME OF U.S. BANK

This Court's analysis should be primarily driven by two cases: *Shadow Wood* and *Shadow Canyon*. In *Shadow Wood*, this Honorable Court laid out the overall standard for a party to set aside a foreclosure by a Homeowners Association under NRS §116.3116 *et seq* which requires a low purchase price and a finding of fraud, unfairness, or oppression. *Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. New York Cmty Bancorp* 366 P.3d 1105 (Nev. 2016). In *Shadow Canyon* this Honorable Court clarified what does and does not amount to "fraud, unfairness, and oppression" sufficient to set aside a foreclosure sale. *Nationstar Mortg. LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon* 2017 Nev. LEXIS 121 (2017).

*Shadow Wood* lay out three inquires in this matter. There must be an inadequate price, some element of fraud, unfairness, or oppression, and the bona fide purchaser status of the buyer must be considered. *Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. New York Cmty Bancorp* 366 P.3d 1105 (Nev. 2016). In addition, *Nationstar Mortg. LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon* provides further clarification as to what does and does not constitute "fraud, unfairness, or oppression" sufficient to invoke equity in the context of an HOA foreclosure. 2017 Nev. LEXIS 121 (2017).

Shadow Canyon is an extremely standard fact pattern in terms of an HOA foreclosure, Saticoy Bay purchased real property worth \$335,000.00 for \$35,000.00 (e.g. 10% of value). *Id.* This Court agreed with the District Court affirming the HOA sale. The Court clarified in *Shadow Canyon* that, while price alone is not sufficient to invalidate an HOA foreclosure sale, it is an important element of evaluating the propriety of an HOA foreclosure sale. *Id.* Specifically, "where the inadequacy is palpable and great, very slight additional evidence of unfairness or irregularity is sufficient to authorize the granting of the relief sought." *Id. citing Golden v. Tomiyasu* 79 Nev. 503, 515-16 (1963) In essence, when a foreclosure sale price is so little as to shock the conscience, any evidence of impropriety in a sale should be sufficient to set it aside.

This Court then listed, several items which were fraudulent, unfair, and oppressive and several things which were not. In Footnote 11 of *Shadow Canyon*; this Court indicated that the following may rise to the level of fraud, unfairness and oppression:

- 1. Failure to mail the Deed of trust beneficiary the statutorily required notices;
- 2. An HOA's representation that the foreclosure sale will not extinguish the deed of trust;
- 3. Collusion between the winning bidder and the entity selling the property;

- 4. A foreclosure trustee's refusal to accept a higher bid; or
- 5. A foreclosure trustee's misrepresentation of the sale date *Id*. At FN 11.

The Court made it clear it was a nonexclusive list and other things could be fraudulent, unfair, or oppressive.

Appellant herein produced evidence of a low purchase price, lack of statutorily required notice, and insider purchase and chilled bidding. Sufficient evidence to invalidate the sale.

### **B. THE PRICE WAS OBVIOUSLY INADEQUATE**

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