#### Case No. 74575

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

U.S. BANK N.A. N.D.,

Appellant,

v.

RESOURCES GROUP LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jun 19 2018 08:36 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

## **APPEAL**

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Joanna S. Kisher, District Judge District Court Case No. A-14-704414-C

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Richard Vilkin, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 8301 E-mail: richard@gvattorneys.com 2470 St. Rose Parkway, Suite 309 Henderson, Nevada 89074 Telephone: (702) 873-5868 NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons and

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

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Appellant was mailed the Notice of Default and the Notice of Sale.

Notwithstanding this, there was no requirement at the time of the sale in early 2012 that such notices be mailed to a first trust deed holder, unless it formally requested such notices from the HOA and, in this case, there were no such requests.

For equitable relief, there must be a low sales price caused by fraud, oppression and unfairness – and fraud, oppression and unfairness, and there was none in this foreclosure and sale.

Respondent's predecessor was a bona fide purchaser without inquiry notice of any issues with regard to the notices and is therefore protected, and any remedy for appellant is with the HOA.

A mortgage protection clause does not protect appellant in a NRS 116 foreclosure and sale.

Appellant failed to exhaust its legal remedies and is therefore not entitled to equitable relief.

This court should affirm the Judgment of the lower court.

# **ARGUMENT**

I.

# APPELLANT WAS MAILED THE NOTICE OF DEFAULT AND THE NOTICE OF SALE

The evidence was undisputed that the Notice of Default was mailed regular mail and certified mail to US Recordings at its address in St. Paul, Minnesota.

This was one of four parties and addresses that respondent included on its deed of trust. Respondent did not specify on its deed of trust which of the four addresses notices should go to, but US Recordings was the only one of the four that invited mailing to by stating "Mail to". Appellant's representative witness at trial could not explain why the deed of trust did not specify which of the four to mail to. The

sales trustee Alessi believed – reasonably – from the deed of trust that US

Recordings was an agent of the beneficiary and therefore mailed to that address.

There is no requirement in the law that a foreclosure notice be mailed to every address on a deed of trust, particularly where the drafter of the deed of trust does not specify on the document where to mail notices to. Appellant is solely at fault for the lack of clarity in the deed of trust.

Appellant's claim that it never got the Notice of Default nor the Notice of Sale was not credible to the court, even though the law only requires mailing, not receipt. The Notice of Sale was mailed to three addresses on the deed of trust – US Recordings, US Bank National Association and US Bank Trust Company. This was at eight separate mailings based on regular and certified mail (two for the Notice of Default and six for the Notice of Sale) and yet appellant claimed it never got any of them. Respondent believes the district court did not find appellant's claim it did not get notice credible and this was one of the reasons it found there was no fraud, unfairness or oppression in this foreclosure.

II.

NOTWITHSTANDING THAT NOTICES WERE MAILED TO APPELLANT,
THERE WAS NO REQUIREMENT UNDER THE LAW AT THE TIME TO DO

SO

Respondent argues that mailing of the Notice of Default ("NOD") and the Notice of Sale ("NOS") to the recorded holder of the deed of trust in 2011 was required by Nevada statutory law. Nevada statutory law at the time did not require mailing to the recorded holder of the Deed of Trust. Mailing of the notices would have been required if respondent had requested such notice of the HOA prior to the recording of the NOD or NOS or recorded a request for such notice, but the evidence showed it never made or recorded such a request.

In order to determine whether or not the NOS was required to be mailed, one must examine the relevant statutes in effect in 2011. Appellant believes those are accurately quoted below in pertinent part. NRS 116.31163, which governs notices of default, stated in pertinent part:

NRS 116.31163 Foreclosure of liens: Mailing of notice of default and election to sell to certain interested persons. The association or other person conducting the sale shall also mail, within 10 days after the notice of default and election to sell is recorded, a copy of the notice by first-class mail to:

- 1. Each person who has requested notice pursuant to <u>NRS</u> 107.090 or 116.31168;
- 2. Any holder of a recorded security interest encumbering the unit's owner's interest who has notified the association, 30 days before the recordation of the notice of default, of the existence of the security interest (emphasis added); and
- 3. A purchaser of the unit, if the unit's owner has notified the association, 30 days before the recordation of the notice, that the unit is the subject of a contract of sale and the association has been requested to furnish the certificate required by NRS 116.4109.

(Added to NRS by <u>1993, 2355</u>; A <u>2005, 2609</u>)

Thus, according to NRS 116.31163 (which pertains only to a Notice of Default ("NOD"), the NOD was required to be given to trust deed holders of record who notified the association of its interest 30 days prior to recording of the NOD. Respondent never gave such notice.

Notice of the NOD was also required per NRS 116.31163 at that time to any person who has requested notice pursuant to NRS 107.090 or NRS 116.31168.

NRS 116.31168 provided in pertinent part:

NRS 116.31168 Foreclosure of liens: Requests by interested persons for notice of default and election to sell; right of association to waive default and withdraw notice or proceeding to foreclose.

1. The provisions of <u>NRS 107.090</u> apply to the foreclosure of an association's lien as if a deed of trust were being foreclosed. The request must identify the lien by stating the names of the unit's owner and the common-interest community (emphasis added).

NRS 107.090 provides in pertinent part:

NRS 107.090 Request for notice of default and sale: Recording and contents; mailing of notice; request by homeowners' association; effect of request.

1. As used in this section, "person with an interest" means any person who has or claims any right, title or interest in, or lien or charge upon, the real property described in the deed of trust, as evidenced by any document or instrument recorded in the office of the county recorder of the county in which any part of the real property is situated.

- 2. A person with an interest or any other person who is or may be held liable for any debt secured by a lien on the property desiring a copy of a notice of default or notice of sale under a deed of trust with power of sale upon real property may at any time after recordation of the deed of trust record in the office of the county recorder of the county in which any part of the real property is situated an acknowledged request for a copy of the notice of default or of sale. The request must state the name and address of the person requesting copies of the notices and identify the deed of trust by stating the names of the parties thereto, the date of recordation, and the book and page where it is recorded (emphasis added).
- 3. The trustee or person authorized to record the notice of default shall, within 10 days after the notice of default is recorded and mailed pursuant to NRS 107.080, cause to be deposited in the United States mail an envelope, registered or certified, return receipt requested and with postage prepaid, containing a copy of the notice, addressed to:
- (a) Each person who has recorded a request for a copy of the notice; and
- (b) Each other person with an interest whose interest or claimed interest is subordinate to the deed of trust (emphasis added).
- 4. The trustee or person authorized to make the sale shall, at least 20 days before the date of sale, cause to be deposited in the United States mail an envelope, registered or certified, return receipt requested and with postage prepaid, containing a copy of the notice of time and place of sale, addressed to each person described in subsection 3.

Thus, under NRS 116.31163, NRS 116.31168 and NRS 107.090, in order to be statutorily entitled to receive the NOS, a trust deed holder of record was required to either: 1) notify the association 30 days before the recording of the NOD of its interest (NRS 116.31163(2); or 2) record a request for notice of default

or notice of sale (NRS 116.31168 and NRS 107.090(2)). NRS 107.090(3)(a) requires notice to anyone who has recorded such a request for notice. However, NRS 107.090(3)(b) requires notice to: "Each other person with an interest whose interest or claimed interest is subordinate to the deed of trust." That does not include by its plain language and meaning, the trust deed holder – it only applies to interests "subordinate to the deed of trust" and a deed of trust can't be subordinate to itself.

Now, NRS 116.311635, which governs notices of sale, states in pertinent part:

NRS 116.311635 Foreclosure of liens: Providing notice of time and place of sale; service of notice of sale; contents of notice of sale; proof of service.

- 1. The association or other person conducting the sale shall also, after the expiration of the 90 days and before selling the unit:
- (a) Give notice of the time and place of the sale in the manner and for a time not less than that required by law for the sale of real property upon execution, except that in lieu of following the procedure for service on a judgment debtor pursuant to NRS 21.130, service must be made on the unit's owner as follows:
- (1) A copy of the notice of sale must be mailed, on or before the date of first publication or posting, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, to the unit's owner or his or her successor in interest at his or her address, if known, and to the address of the unit; and
- (2) A copy of the notice of sale must be served, on or before the date of first publication or posting, in the manner set forth in subsection 2; and

- (b) Mail, on or before the date of first publication or posting, a copy of the notice by first-class mail to:
- (1) Each person entitled to receive a copy of the notice of default and election to sell notice under NRS 116.31163;
- (2) The holder of a recorded security interest or the purchaser of the unit, if either of them has notified the association, before the mailing of the notice of sale, of the existence of the security interest, lease or contract of sale, as applicable (emphasis added); and
- (3) The Ombudsman.

Thus, NRS 116.311635 only required the notice of sale be mailed the trust deed holder notified the HOA of its interest per NRS 116.31163(2) or it notified the association of its interest before the mailing of the notice of sale per NRS 116.311635(2).

Respondent never did any of those things, nor did it record a request for the notice of sale. No such evidence was provided to the lower court. It has only itself to blame. The law was clear that it could have requested notice of the HOA or it could have recorded a request for notice. It didn't do so.

Any argument that the deed of trust in this case constitutes a request for notice is spurious, as there is nothing in the document that requests such notice in compliance with the Nevada statutes, and any statutorily-compliant request would have to be clear as to its purpose.

# FOR EQUITABLE RELIEF, THERE MUST BE A LOW SALES PRICE CAUSED BY FRAUD, UNFAIRNESS OR OPPRESSION – AND FRAUD, OPPRESSION AND UNFAIRNESS – AND THERE WAS NONE

Although appellant focuses on the sales price of the property, there must also be fraud, unfairness or oppression in order to provide an equitable basis to avoid extinguishment.

In the *Shadow Wood* case, this Court made clear that even if there were an inadequate price, that *is not enough to justify equitable relief*. It stated:

"[D]emonstrating that an association sold a property at its foreclosure sale for an inadequate price is not enough to set aside the sale; there must also be a showing of fraud, unfairness, or oppression."

Shadow Wood v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp., 366 P.3d 1105, 1112 (2016).

Whatever the fair market value of the subject property may have been, inadequacy of price is not – by itself – enough to justify equitable relief to a first trust deed holder – there must also be evidence of fraud, unfairness or oppression.

For a sale to be set aside for equitable reasons, it must have an inadequate price *and* have an element of fraud, unfairness, or malice leading to the inadequate price. *Shadow Wood Homeowners Association, et. al. v. New York Community Bancorp, Inc.* 366 P. 3d 1105, 132 Nev. Adv. Rep. 5 (2016), citing *Long v. Towne* 98 Nev. 11, 13 629 P.2d 520,528 (1982). Absent "oppression, fraud, or malice" a

foreclosure sale cannot be set aside for price inadequacy alone. See Golden v. Tomiyasu, 387 P.2d 989, 79 Nev. 503. 504 (1963) ("mere inadequacy of price, without proof of some element of fraud, unfairness or oppression as accounts for and brings about the inadequacy of price is not sufficient to support a judgment setting aside the sale (emphasis added).").

In this case, appellant argued that, in addition to the notice issue, there was unfairness in that there was a relationship between someone who worked for the sales trustee Alessi at the time of the sale (Ryan Kerbow) and respondent. The argument was that respondent's manager (Mr. Haddad) hired attorney Kerbow to represent him in a case. Aside from the fact that appellant never provided evidence of what Mr. Kerbow did to advantage Mr. Haddad with regard to the sale, the evidence showed that, one week prior to the sale (January 18, 2012), Mr. Kerbow was actually representing a party in a case *against* Mr. Haddad and that Mr. Haddad did not first retain Mr. Kerbow as an attorney until April 9, 2012 – ten weeks after the sale on January 25, 2012.

Appellant also sought to show unfairness in that Mr. Haddad sought relief as to the property in a bankruptcy case. However, the evidence showed that Mr. Haddad only listed the deed of trust as a "disputed" claim, something he was required to do in the bankruptcy forms. Also, the bankruptcy case was dismissed without relief.

As to this issue, the lower court considered the doctrine of judicial estoppel (i.e., whether respondent should be precluded from claiming in the case at bar that he was not subject to the deed of trust based on what he said in the bankruptcy filing) and concluded based on the case of *Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities*, *Inc.*, 123 Nev. 278, 163 P.3d 462, 468-469 (2007) that the doctrine did not apply to the case at bar because the five requirements to apply the doctrine were not met, including that respondent was not successful in the bankruptcy court, the two positions taken in the bankruptcy court and the case at bar were not totally inconsistent, and the conduct of respondent did not sabotage the judicial process. 7AA1564-1565, paras. 13-15.

In this case, appellant argues that the fair market value of the property was \$48,000, while an expert for respondent testified that it was roughly the sales price at the sale (\$5,331). Respondent's expert found the appellant's methodology flawed because it did not take into consideration the impaired factors affecting a property being sold at an NRS 116 foreclosure sale and that certain factual assumptions made by appellant's expert cannot occur in a foreclosure sale. See 8AA1909, line 2 to 1931, line 18. But the district court did not determine which evaluation was correct, given that there was no fraud, unfairness or oppression. 7AA1159-1569.

RESPONDENT'S PREDECESSOR WAS A BONA FIDE PURCHASER WITH

NO KNOWLEDGE OF THE ISSUE REGARDING NOTICES AND IS

PROTECTED AGAINST ANY ARGUMENT OF A DEFECT IN THE SALE

Appellant argues that plaintiff's precedessor, Mr. Haddad (the person who bought the property at the sale) was not a bona fide purchaser. This is irrelevant to whether the purchaser was a bona fide purchaser. "A subsequent purchaser is bona fide under common law principles if it takes the property 'for a valuable consideration and without notice of the prior equity, and without notice of facts which upon diligent inquiry would be indicated and from which notice would be imputed to him, if he failed to make such inquiry." *Shadow Wood, supra*, 366 P.3d at p. 1115 (citation to quoted case omitted).

The undisputed evidence at trial was that Mr. Haddad did not have any information about the property prior to sale, including about notices. There was therefore nothing to put him on inquiry notice of any defect in title or of whether the notices were properly mailed.

Appellant argues that Mr. Haddad knew about the recorded documents and the first deed of trust prior to the sale. But this is not enough to destroy bona fide purchaser status. Quiet title is an action in equity. In *Shadow Wood Homeowners Association, Inc. v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp, Inc., supra*, 366 P.3d at 1111-1112, the

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